
     

 
Notice of a public meeting of 
 
Decision Session - Executive Member for Children, Young People 

and Education 
 
To: Councillor Webb 

 
Date: Tuesday, 3 September 2024 

 
Time: 10.00 am 

 
Venue: West Offices - Station Rise, York YO1 6GA 

 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. Declarations of Interest   (Pages 1 - 2) 
 At this point in the meeting, Members and co-opted members are 

asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary interest, or other 
registerable interest, they might have in respect of business on 
this 
agenda, if they have not already done so in advance on the 
Register of Interests. The disclosure must include the nature of 
the 
interest. 
 
An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it 
becomes 
apparent to the member during the meeting. 
 
[Please see attached sheet for further guidance for Members]. 
 
 
 
 



 

2. Minutes   (Pages 3 - 4) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the Decision Session held on 

23 May 2024. 
 

3. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting members of the public who have 

registered to speak can do so. Members of the public may speak 
on agenda items or on matters within the remit of the committee. 
Please note that our registration deadlines have changed to 
2 working days before the meeting, in order to facilitate the 
management of public participation at meetings. The deadline for 
registering at this meeting is 5:00pm on Friday, 30 August 
2024. 
 
To register to speak please visit 
www.york.gov.uk/AttendCouncilMeetings to fill in an online 
registration form. If you have any questions about the 
registration form or the meeting, please contact Democratic 
Services. Contact details can be found at the foot of this agenda. 
 
Webcasting of Public Meetings 
 
Please note that, subject to available resources, this meeting will 
be webcast, including any registered public speakers who have 
given their permission. The meeting can be viewed live and on 
demand at www.york.gov.uk/webcasts. 
 

4. Local Offer for Care Leavers   (Pages 5 - 38) 
 This report sets out and seeks approval of the revised Local 

Offer for Care Leavers.   
 

5. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Executive Member considers 

urgent under the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

Democratic Services Officer 
 
Reece Williams 
 
Contact Details: 

 Telephone – (01904) 55 4447 

 Email – reece.williams@york.gov.uk 
 



 

 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting: 
 

 Registering to speak 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports and 

 For receiving reports in other formats 
 

Contact details are set out above. 

 

Alternative formats 

If you require this document in an alternative language or format (e.g. large 
print, braille, Audio, BSL or Easy Read) you can: 

 

Email us at:  cycaccessteam@york.gov.uk 

 

Call us: 01904 551550 and customer services will pass your 
request onto the Access Team. 

 

Use our BSL Video Relay Service: 
www.york.gov.uk/BSLInterpretingService 

Select ‘Switchboard’ from the menu. 
 

 

We can also translate into the following languages: 

 

mailto:cycaccessteam@york.gov.uk
http://www.york.gov.uk/BSLInterpretingService


This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 1 
Declarations of Interest – guidance for Members 

 

(1) Members must consider their interests, and act according to the 
following: 

Type of Interest You must 

Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests 

Disclose the interest, not participate 
in the discussion or vote, and leave 
the meeting unless you have a 
dispensation. 

Other Registrable 
Interests (Directly 
Related) 

OR 

Non-Registrable 
Interests (Directly 
Related) 

Disclose the interest; speak on the 
item only if the public are also 
allowed to speak, but otherwise not 
participate in the discussion or vote, 
and leave the meeting unless you 
have a dispensation. 

Other Registrable 
Interests (Affects) 

OR 

Non-Registrable 
Interests (Affects) 

Disclose the interest; remain in the 
meeting, participate and vote unless 
the matter affects the financial 
interest or well-being: 

(a) to a greater extent than it affects 
the financial interest or well-being of 
a majority of inhabitants of the 
affected ward; and 

(b) a reasonable member of the 
public knowing all the facts would 
believe that it would affect your view 
of the wider public interest. 

In which case, speak on the item 
only if the public are also allowed to 
speak, but otherwise do not 
participate in the discussion or vote, 
and leave the meeting unless you 
have a dispensation. 

(2) Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to the Member concerned or 
their spouse/partner. 

(3) Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months must 
not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget calculations, 
and must disclose at the meeting that this restriction applies to 
them. A failure to comply with these requirements is a criminal 
offence under section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992. 

Page 1 Agenda Item 1



This page is intentionally left blank



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

Meeting Decision Session - Executive Member for Children, 
Young People and Education 

Date 23 May 2024 

Present Councillor Webb 

Officers in 
attendance 

Barbara Mands – Head of Education Support Service  

 
 

17. Declarations of Interest (9:00am)  
 
At this point in the meeting, the Executive Member was asked to 
declare if he had any personal interests not included on the Register 
of Interests or any prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interests that 
he might have had in relation to the business on the agenda. None 
were declared. 
 
 
18. Minutes (9:01am)  
 
Resolved: That the minutes of the decision session held on 5 March 
2024 be approved and signed by the Executive Member as a correct 
record. 
 
 
19. Public Participation (9:02am)  
 
Councillor Waller spoke in relation to item 4 of the agenda and 
commented that the Lowfield Green development was a long way 
from being completed and had created opportunities to give back to 
the local community, he mentioned that he believed resources could 
have been allocated more locally than Poppleton. Councillor Waller 
then urged for a transport review and further consultation regarding 
the Lowfield Green area would be needed if more cars would be 
encouraged to travel there for school drop-off and pick-up times, as 
this would have an affect on people who walk and cycle. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



20. Early Years Capital Grant Tender For Lowfield Green (9:06am)  
 
The Head of the Education Support Service presented the report and 
stated that this report had been brought in front of the Executive 
Member due to the completion of the tender process following a 
forecast increase in parental demand following a new development in 
Lowfield Green. She noted that only one tender, as outlined in the 
report, was successful and complete, and it was; 
 
Resolved: 

 
That the Executive Member approved the tender and £104k capital to 
the provider for the creation of early years and childcare places at 
Lowfield Green. 

 
Reason: 

 
To award the grant to the applicant so that local parents have access 
to good quality early years and childcare including forest school 
provision. 
 
 
 
 
 

Cllr Webb, Chair 
[The meeting started at 9.00 am and finished at 9.10 am]. 

Page 4



 

 

  
 

   

 
Decision Session – Executive Member for 
Children, Young People and Education 
 

3 September 2024 

Report of the Director of Safeguarding  
 

 
Local Offer for Care Leavers  
 
Summary 

 
1. This report sets out and seeks approval of the revised Local Offer for 

Care Leavers.   
 
2. The Local Offer responds to the views of young people and feedback 

from the National Advisor for Care Leavers. The proposal is to enhance 
the offer through extending the bus pass from age of 21 to 25, an 
annual subscription to an app which supports emotional well-being, 
contribution to internet access and addressing the ‘cliff edge’ in relation 
to council tax. 

 
3. Consultation with young people has identified the need for a more 

individualised approach to support. Given this there is a proposal to 
move away from paying accommodation costs at University in their 
entirety but assess this based on individual need and in conjunction 
with the University Offer. This in turn brings balance to the offer, 
particularly for those who are undertaking apprenticeships.  

 
4. The overall vision is to strengthen the Local Offer and move away from 

a ‘one size fits all’ approach resulting in more flexibility for each care 
experienced young person.  

 
5. This report focuses on the above key areas however, the full Local 

Offer can be viewed in Annex A. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



 

Background 
 
6. Local Authorities have a responsibility to provide, consult on, publish 

and review a Local Offer for care experienced young people (Children 
and Social Work Act 2017).  

 
7. Our Local Offer outlines the support we provide as Corporate Parents to 

our care experienced young people and aims to improve social mobility, 
reduce inequality and promote good health outcomes and ambitions for 
the future. The offer sets out how we support young people, as parents 
would, in their transition to adulthood and beyond.  

 
Consultation  
 

8. Consultation has taken place with care experienced young people to 
enable a co-designed Local Offer which makes a real difference. Young 
people have requested a more individualised and flexible approach 
which allows them to have more of one part of the offer than another 
and is dependent on need. At present young people report that whilst a 
blanket offer is helpful it does not take into consideration individual 
need and can leave some young people at a disadvantage.  

 
9. Mark Riddell, National Implementation Advisor for Care Leavers, DfE 

visited York in December 2023 and reported he was impressed by the 
leadership and management approach and described this as ‘ambitious 
and aspirational along with a sense to have a better offer for care 
leavers across the whole service area.’ 

 
10. Active discussions have taken place with other Local Authorities.  
 
Options 
 

11. The options are either to remain the current Local Offer or endorse the 
new enhanced Offer.  

 
Analysis 
 
12. Young people can access a bus pass up until the age of 21 however, 

have requested this is extended to 25 to support access to employment 
and education in the City. Other transport options have been explored 
however, young people state an extension to the bus pass is the most 
favourable and this is in line with the City’s climate agenda.  

 

Page 6



 

13. It is proposed we offer access to a mindfulness app for young people 
which focuses on sleep, meditation and relaxation. Young people have 
consistently identified emotional well-being as one of their top 3 
priorities. This also links to the priorities of the administration. Young 
people have reported deterioration in their emotional well-being due to 
societal pressures such as the cost-of-living crisis. Whilst one to one 
support is in place responses from young people focus on easy access 
support apps. There is always a risk an app may not have the desired 
impact therefore it is imperative there is a review of usage and impact.  

 
14. The new Local Offer proposes changes to the payment of Council Tax. 

The current Offer includes a Council Tax exemption for one year, 
benchmarking has shown many Authorities provide a sliding scale or 
exemption until 25.  

 
15. The proposal is for Council Tax to be on a sliding scale over a 3-year 

period, 100% in the first year, 50% in the second year and 25% in the 
third year. The approach responds to young people’s views about a ‘cliff 
edge’ through a tapering approach therefore encouraging autonomy in 
managing budgets.  

 
16. Young people have voiced the importance of internet access and the 

imperative need for this in the modern world. Internet access enables 
social interaction, mobility, study opportunities and promotes learning. 
The proposal is to provide a monthly contribution to broadband costs for 
12 months.  

 
17. It is important to support young people who attend university as any 

parent would while also encouraging autonomy and promoting budget 
management. The plan is to move away from paying accommodation 
costs in their entirety to an annual contribution of 2.5k and a bursary of 
2k. It is important to note that Universities do have offers to support 
care experienced young people which we need to promote. There is an 
option to remain with our current offer of full accommodation costs 
however, the proposed offer outlined is more in line with our regional 
neighbours.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



 

Implications – Financial  
 
18. Discussions are underway with First York regarding bus passes for 

young people however, over the next 12 months the bus passes will be 
funded through the Bus Service Improvement Plan grant.  

 
19. Additional costs in relation to broadband and the well-being app are 

outlined below: 
 

 Annual Costs  

Broadband £4,200  
(A £25 per month contribution for 12 
months based on 14 young people) 
 

Well-being app  £2,400  
(An annual subscription of £39.99 based 
on 60 young people) 
 

Total  £6,600 

 
20. Care experienced young people are exempt from Council Tax in the 

City for the first year. The proposal is to introduce a sliding scale 
reduction over a three-year period which will result in the below loss of 
£11,250 income to the Local Authority (based on 15 young people), 
however, will respond to the need of our care experienced young 
people.  

 
21. There are no other known implications.  
 
 
Risk Management 
 
8. There are no known risks in relation to the proposals outlined.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 

Contact Details 
 
Author:  
 
Danielle Johnson 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
 
Martin Kelly 

Director of Safeguarding 
 
 

Corporate Director of Children and 
Education 
 
Report 
Approved 

 
Date 13 August 2024 

 
 

    
 
Wards Affected: [List wards or tick box to indicate all] All  

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Annexes 
 
Annex A – Enhanced Local Offer   
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 

What is York’s Enhanced Local Offer to Care 
Leavers? 

 
We believe that everyone has a responsibility to help those who have been 

in care to overcome the difficulties that they experienced in their 
childhoods, so that they can lead successful lives.  

 
 

More than anything else we recognise that the help and support that you receive from 
your corporate parents in York is critical to whether you make the transition from care to 
independence successfully. 
 
We take this responsibility very seriously. For Children in our Care and Care Leavers we 
strive to be excellent Corporate Parents, having high aspirations for you and encouraging 
you to achieve your goals and potential. A good parent means keeping you safe and 
providing you with the best support to meet your individual needs. We can help you to 
access housing, education and training, work experience, health services and we are here 
to support you to make the most of leaving care. 
 
Our professionals working with you share high aspirations for you and make sure that all 
the children in our care and care leavers have all the opportunities we would give our own 
children through good access to high quality education, health, and social care services. 
 
This offer focuses on how we work across the partnership to meet your needs to achieve 
the best of outcomes. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

What does the Pathway Team do? 
We are your ‘Corporate Parents’ which means, it is our responsibility to be 
good parents to all of our care leavers and support you in your journey to 

independence. 

 
Our team is made up of Pathway Workers, an accommodation officer and an Education Training and 
Employment Adviser who will support you with your journey to independent living. We have a legal 
duty to support you and provide you with assistance until you are 21, or up until 25 if you are in 
education, or if you wish to have an ongoing 
service. 
 
 
The Pathway Team is based in at Howe Hill.  
 
136 Acomb Road 
Acomb 
pathwayteam@york.gov.uk 
 
01904 555389 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12

mailto:pathwayteam@york.gov.uk


 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 
What is my Pathway Plan? 

 

Every young person between the ages of 16 and 21 in care or a Care Leaver has a 
pathway plan and up to 25 if you are in education or wish to continue to receive a 

service from us.  

 

 Your first pathway plan will be based on and will include your Care Plan and any Personal 
Education Plan (PEP) you have. It will be written with you by your Social Worker 

 

 Your pathway plan has information on the best way to support you towards full 
independence and adulthood. It will cover your education, employment, health, finance, 
social needs, relationships and housing. 

 

 Your plan will be written in a way that should meet your individual needs, it will capture 
your hopes for the future and include your views. It will be regularly reviewed with you, at 
least every six months, to check that your goals and milestones are still right and are being 
met.  

 
What is the role of my Social Worker?  

 

  Visit you regularly and keep you up to date about any decisions made about you.  

 Make sure that you stay healthy by having annual health assessments and health appointments 
when needed. 

 Make sure you are getting all the help you need to in school/college or to access 
education/work with a Personal Education Plan (PEP). 

 Talk to you about your plans, where you live, who will care for you, seeing your family and what 
will happen in the future so that these can be shared with your Independent Reviewing Officer ( 
IRO) at your review meetings (and included in your My Care Plan for your records). 

 Help you prepare for the changes when moving from the Children in our Care Team to the 
Pathway Team by having a Pathway Plan from 16 years old which details the help and support 
you will receive from us.  

 Help you speak to people on your behalf when you don’t feel able to.  

 Provide financial help with things you need like travel, getting to school/college/work, seeing 

family, new clothes and fees for  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 
 
 
 
What is the role of my Pathway Worker?  

 

 To support you when you are leaving care to develop a strong sense of yourself and your 
identity, your background and history.  

 

 To help you build on your family and significant positive relationships in preparation for 
adulthood.  

 

 To enable you to hold a sense of belonging to the community where you live and connection 
to society in general.  

 

 To help you to understand what support is available, so that you can make informed choices.  
 

 To encourage you to develop confidence and self-esteem, and the ability to voice your  
opinions and thoughts on key issues that affect you.  

 

 Support you to develop the necessary skills to live independently.  
 

 
 
 
What we will do: 

 
When you turn 17 ½ you will be allocated a Pathway Worker.  It is their job to keep in touch and 
arrange to meet with you, at home or somewhere local to you. Your Pathway Worker will give 
you advice, information, and guidance to help you make the best decisions. Some young people 
who reach independence earlier may be allocated a Pathway Worker sooner. You will have your 
social worker and Pathway Worker’s mobile number and email so you can contact them within 
office hours, and you will be told who you can speak to if they are not available. 

 
You need to:  
 

 Be there when we visit.  

 Share your news; we are there to support you and can only do that if you speak to us  
openly about what is going on in your life.  

 Talk to us about any problems you may have, so we can help 
Respect us in the same way that we respect you 

 

 .  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 
 
 
 

Our promise to you 
 
To make sure you are supported, we will:  

 

 Give you your own allocated worker and make sure you know who you can contact if they are 
not available.  

 

 Talk to you about when you about how to support your relationships with your family 
 

 Regularly review how well we are supporting you.  
 

 Make sure that adults, such as carers and workers, get the right training to understand the 
issues that affect children in care and care leavers, so that you get the best support possible.  

 

 Make sure you understand your rights and entitlements as a care leaver. 
 
To guide you and treat you well, we will:  

 

 Make sure your allocated worker stays in touch and visits you regularly to see how you are.  
 

 Write a Pathway Plan alongside you and will make sure your wishes and feelings and  
aspirations are captured.  

 

 Talk to you about why decisions are made and explain this clearly in a way you can 
understand.  

 

 Make sure your allocated worker doesn’t change unless there is a good reason for it.  
 

 Discuss with you if you would like to keep your IRO after you turn 18 to continue independent 
review of your Pathway Plan for up to a year 

 

 Support you to make a complaint or refer you to Advocacy if you need to. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 
 
 
To help you be healthy, we will:  

 

 Make sure you receive information and support to maintain a healthy lifestyle.  
 

 Respect your right to confidentiality.  
 

 Make sure you recognise the importance of wellbeing and have access to appropriate health 
and support services.  

 

 Ensure you know how to access to Health services which include sexual health and  
contraception, dental health and emotional wellbeing.  

 

 We will provide you with a referral to an emergency dentist if you are not registered with a 
dentist. 
 

 Provide access to free gym and swimming with identified providers in York  
 

 Support you to access substance misuse support. 
 

 Provide you with your health history information.  
 

 Provide you with access to a wellbeing, mindfulness app through an annual subscription. 
 

 Consider funding (on an individual basis) any reasonable health related costs which impact on 
your day-to-day life such as transport costs to receive treatment.  

 

 Explore funding options for non-essential treatment such as dentistry if you have no recourse to 
public funds.  

 

 Invite you to Pathway Events to enjoy activities as a community. 
 

 Support you to sign up with a local GP when you move home.  
 
 
To help you find and sustain suitable accommodation, we will:  

 

 Ensure a dedicated Accommodation Officer works jointly with you and your Pathway Worker to  
identify appropriate housing options. 

 

 Help you set up a rent account, to assist you in getting used to managing a tenancy.  
 

 Ensure that with our housing colleagues we are supporting you at every step of your 
accommodation journey. 

 

 We will support you in building your independent living skills.  

Page 16



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 

 Provide you with information on how to access our setting up home grant (£3000) to furnish 
your move on accommodation.  

 

 Staying Put arrangements, if you are eligible and both agree, you can remain with your foster carer at 
18 under a ‘staying put’ arrangement, which can last up to 21. 

 

 Advice about a range of accommodation options including, taster & trainer flats, supported, semi 
supported and independent accommodation. 

 

 When assessed as ready for your own home, you will be put forward for ‘Care Leaver status’ on 
the CYC housing register. Between the ages of 18-21 years, this equates to a priority banding. 
For those are between 21 – 24 years old this is discussed at the Move On Panel. 

 

 If you are on Universal Credit, we will pay for your first week’s rent. 
 

 Support your with moving into and furnishing your new home. Your first CYC property will be 
decorated with flooring before you move in. Provide you with a moving in pack: includes basic food 
shop, cleaning products and a first night take away meal.  

 
- We will support you with any future moves this support will be detailed in your pathway plan 

 

 Support with managing a tenancy, managing your front door, budgeting to ensure your important 
bills are paid and you avoid rent or council tax arrears.  

 

 When needed we will support you to apply for universal credit at 18 for housing costs. 
 

 Support and advice if you have a housing crisis or need emergency accommodation. 
 

 If you move into a CYC tenancy you will be exempt from council tax for the first year of your 
tenancy.  In the second year you will receive a 50% discount and in your third year you will 
receive a 25% discount. 

 
See one page link for housing protocol summary. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 

 

To help you to get the best education and training, we will:  

 

 If you are under 18-year-old we will work with your school and designated teacher to help 
support you through your Personal Education Plan (PEP).  

 

 Help you to apply for courses you want to study. 
 

 Information about courses that run at different times of the year; “not all courses start in 
September”. 

 

 Support you to apply for Further Education bursaries. [NB: Care leavers are a priority group for 
the 16 to 19 Bursary Fund administered by FE colleges, which pays a bursary of up to £1,200 a 
year to support vulnerable young people to participate in education or if over 19 the discretionary 
bursary for costs associated with your course. 
 

 Offer you opportunities to speak directly to employers and education providers about your 
future.  

 

 Support you on your journey to university and higher education.  
 

 Ensure you have someone of your choice attend all university open day visits and have their 
travel costs paid. This could be a family member, Pathway Worker, foster carer, or friend.  

 

 Ensure that someone is able to accompany you to university on day one and that a ‘big shop’ is 
done to make sure you have all basic foods and cleaning items.  

 

 We will contribute to your accommodation costs whilst at University.  This is assessed on an 
individual basis and in conjunction with the University offer. 

 

 If you attend university, a bursary of £2,000 to help with the cost of books and materials spread 
over the length of your course. 

 
To help you find employment, we will:  

 Provide you with bespoke support from our specialist ETE advisor and Employment and 
Opportunities Broker. 

 

 Access to a bespoke programme of work experience opportunities for care leavers in all areas of 
the council. 

 

 Ensure connections with Local business who have agreed guaranteed interviews for care 
leavers. 
 

 Support you to prepare a CV, complete job applications and prepare for interviews. 
 
 

Page 18



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 

 Provide you with support to assist you with interviews e.g., travel costs and clothing.  
 

 Provide you with travel costs to attend work or university until your first pay cheque or  
student loan is available. 

 

 Give you careers information and advice. 
 

 Support you with transport costs when travelling to training, school/college, apprenticeships, or 
job interviews. Tools, compulsory equipment, essential clothing, and books.  
 

 Support you with providing tools, compulsory equipment, essential clothing, and books. 
 

 Source opportunities to explore work experience, apprenticeships, and employment within the 
council. 

 

 Inform you about voluntary work that we think you may be interested in. 
 

 If you plan to go to university, we will help you choose the right course and university that 
matches your talents & interests. 

 

To be successful in life, we will:  

 

 Celebrate your achievements and successes with you.  
 

 Make sure that you are asked about important decisions which affect your life.  
 

 Provide you with support to live independently when you’re ready.  
 

 Help you prepare to manage your finances well and understand how to budget.  
 

 Help you get ready for the world of work, find a job or training opportunities.  
 
 

YOU STILL MATTER! 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 
Help and support: Our enhanced Local Offer 

 
Local authorities have a legal duty to support you to make the transition from care to 

adulthood. It is our responsibility to make sure you know what services are available to 
you, and what you can expect to receive from us as your corporate parents.  

 
This Enhanced Local Offer for Care Leavers aims to clearly set out in one document what you are 
entitled to and what we expect from you and help you to make the most of your independence. Over 
the following pages, you will be able to learn more about:  
 

 Your money and official documents  

 Where you live  

 Your education, employment and training opportunities  

 Your health and safety  

 Care Leavers who are Parents  

 Care Leavers who are over 21  

 Care Leavers who are over 25  

 Care Leavers in Custody  

 Care Levers who are refugees 

 How to get your voice heard 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 
Your money and official documents 

This section gives you information on what financial help you can expect from the 
Children in our Care Team and The Pathway Team. 

 
We provide financial advice and support to help you prepare for living independently and manage your 
money. To do this we will:  
 

 Make sure that you have the advice you need to learn how to manage your money and  
that this is written in your Pathway Plan  

 

  Help you to open your own bank account and learn how to manage your money, so that you  
avoid getting into debt.  

 

 Help you to get identification documents, (important pieces of paper about you) such as  
a passport, birth certificate and provisional driving licence.  

 

 Help you to get your National Insurance (NI) number. Every adult in the country has their  
own NI number, so that records about their benefits, taxes and pensions are kept. Your  
Social Worker will write a letter or help you fill in a form to apply for it before you leave care.  

 

 Help you to access universal credit drop in for advice.  
 

 Help you when you make your first claim for benefits at 18, by supporting you with a  
personal allowance for up to six weeks while your benefits claim is being processed.  

 

 Help you if you are unable to claim benefits by supporting you financially for a longer  
period while your entitlements are being established, as set out in your Pathway Plan.  

 

 Help you to purchase furniture and white goods, such as washing machines and fridges,  
when you are setting up your home through a Setting up home grant.  

 

 Where necessary, we give you financial assistance with the cost of health,  
dental or optician services. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 
The table below describes the range of financial support that is available for when  
you leave care: 
 

Item Amount Regularity  More information 

Health Support Subject to assessment Subject to assessment E.g. To put toward the 
cost of glasses, subject 
to written quote 

Clothing for work Up to £100 Subject to assessment Ask your Pathway 
Worker 

Passport, Provisional 
Licences, travel 
documents & birth 
certificate 

Rates will be set for 
each documents 

As required Each document will 
provided once 

Driving Lessons Up to 10 hours of 
lessons 

Subject to assessment We will support with 
lessons once theory 
test has been passed & 
you have financial 
means to continue 
lessons. 

Driving or CBT Test Rates to be set by 
provider 

Once  

Theory Test Rates to be set by 
provider 

Once  

Access to cost of living 
voucher scheme 

£60 voucher 3 times a year Whilst scheme is 
available 

York Bus Pass Subject to assessment Yearly Up until 25 years old 

Young Person’s 
Railcard 

Subject to assessment Once Up until 25 years old  

Education Training & 
employment. Travel 
(out of York) 

Subject to assessment  If not covered by 
education bursary 
when attending 
education or training 
only 

Setting Up Home Grant £3000 Once To be accessed up until 
25.  To be supported by 
Pathway Worker 

Council Tax Exemption 
for CYC first tenancy 

100% discount Y1 
50% discount Y2 
25% discount Y3 

For first three years of 
tenancy 

 

Birthday Gift £50 voucher 19, 20 
years old 
£100 voucher 21-year-
old 

You need to be in 
touch with us to 
receive this. 

Financial gift or activity 
based on your 
preference 

Christmas/ Eid/ 
Celebration 

£50 voucher Once a year up until 20 
years 

Dependent on your 
cultural beliefs 

Internet Rates to be set by 
provider up to £25 a 
month 

For first year of 
tenancy  

 

Page 22



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

Where you live 
There are different types of housing with support, and you will have some options in 

where you want to live.  

 Your social worker and Pathway Worker will be visiting you, and where you live will be agreed in 
your Pathway Plan.  

 

 Staying on with foster carers is called ‘Staying Put’, you can stay with your foster carer until you 
are 21 years old, if this is agreed. This will not affect your long term move or plans. 

 

 When you turn 16, a dedicated Accommodation Officer will become involved with you to begin 
discussions about your housing options post 18 as part of the pathway planning process.  

 

 We will continue to provide advice and information to assist with housing. 

 When assessed as ready for your own home, you will be put forward for ‘Care Leaver 
status’ on the CYC housing register. Between the ages of 18-21 years, this equates to a 
priority banding. For those who are between 21 and 24 years old, this will be assessed 
individually and discussed at the Move on Panel 
 

 We will use our established Move on Panel to track and support all young people in the 
transition into living independently. 

 

 Where young people want to remain outside of York; we try to work in conjunction with other 
local authority housing departments to advocate on their behalf for entitlement to apply for 
social housing in that locality. 

 .  
 
If you need extra help:  

 

 Where there are concerns, that you are not in a position manage independent living, bespoke 
packages of support can be implemented to support you with your next steps in partnership 
with adult services to support your preparation for adulthood. 

 

 This might include supported accommodation post 18 years old until you are more able to 
manage independent living.  

 

 These packages can vary enormously in terms of how many hours of support per week are 
offered to young people in their own accommodation. The Pathway Team will liaise with Adults’ 
Services and other departments within the council where young people meet their criteria, to 
seek appropriate adult accommodation and support services. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 
 

Accommodation types  
 

Type Description Detail 

Staying Put A continuation of Foster Care Extending your time with your 
foster carer up until 21 years 
old 
 
Agreement between young 
person and carers to remain 
where you are living 

Staying Close Making York Home for young 
people placed out of the local 
area 

Taster and Trainer flats with 
bespoke support 

Howe Hill 24 bed supported 
accommodation for young 
people 16-25 years old. 
 

24 hour support 
Key worker and independence 
and education sessions 

SASH Supported lodgings for young 
people 16-25 years old 
Homes of hosts in York and 
local area who are vetted and 
trained by the project 

Support worker provided 

Independent Living  (CYC 
Tenancy) 

When assessed as ready for 
your own tenancy you will be 
able to bid on York properties 
dependent on you 
circumstances 

Support from Pathway worker 
to help set up and manage your 
tenancy  

Private arrangement You may decide to return home 
to your family networks and 
make your own arrangements 
about where to live. 

Support from Pathway worker 
to help set up and manage your 
tenancy 

Specialist provision If you have specific needs you 
may have access to specific 
provision.  This would be 
assessed on an individual basis. 

Support from Pathway worker 
to help step up and manage 
your tenancy 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 24



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

Education, Employment and 
Training 

 
Education is essential for you to gain the academic qualifications you will need when 

looking for employment. However, college and university are not the only options. 
Apprenticeships and training schemes are very popu lar and can be a good way to learn 

practical work skills and earn!  

Volunteering is another excellent option to help you gain ‘work ready’ skills and get 
that all important work experience that employers want.  

 

 We encourage, support and help you plan your education, training and leisure activities based 
on a your needs and aspirations.  This is recorded in detail in your pathway plan. These plans 
build on information that is already included in your personal education plan (PEP). 

 

 We recognise that you may not be able to access formal education and training straight away 
but may be working towards these opportunities, that is English as A Second Language (ESOL) 
classes or volunteering. We will support you with this. 

 

 The council is committed to also giving priority for apprenticeships to Care Leavers. 
 

 We work provide support from our specialist ETE Advisor, Employment and Opportunities 
Broker, our SLEA Team, Virtual School and colleagues at DWP and local businesses so that you 
receive appropriate careers advice and guidance up to the age of 21 year (or 25 years if 
required).  

 

 Our partners can also help you with practical tasks such as CV building, interview preparation 
and practising and work readiness preparation.  

 

 We work in partnership with a number of education and employment trainers who specialise in 
either one to one intensive work to build up confidence, motivation and the self-esteem of 
young people who wish to further their goals in connection with education, employment 
training.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 25



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

University students 
 
We will work hard to support you with your education, if you decide to go to university 

you will receive up to a three-year financial support package. Further education a 
fantastic opportunity for you to gain academic qualifications and skills that you will 

need when looking for employment.  

 We will support you if you choose to study higher education alongside; your 

employment or whilst remaining in your own accommodation. (Speak with the 

pathway ETE officer for details). 

 

 Support you to attend interviews and open days. 
 

 Advice and support you in applying for tuition fees, loans, and bursaries available from Student 

Finance, the individual HE establishment and Care Leaver trusts. 

 We will contribute to your accommodation costs whilst at University.  This is assessed on an 

individual basis and in conjunction with the University offer 

  If you attend university,  we will provide you with a bursary of £2,000 to help with the cost of 

books and materials spread over the length of your course. 

 We will support you with travel costs at the start and end of term and offer assistance to 

transport your belongings to and from university. 

 The Pathway ETE officer will liaise with tutors & support services over the period of your course to 

ensure you receive all possible support to successfully complete your degree. 

 We will on completion of your degree help with the cost of photographs and your cap & gown. 

 

 We will support you in accessing CYC housing register if returning from your course to live in York. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 
 

The financial support you could receive includes:  
 

Title Amount Detail 

Higher education bursary £2000 Paid over the duration of an 
agreed university course 

University holiday 
accommodation & travel costs 

Dependent on location Pathway team will assist you to 
obtain holiday accommodation 
over summer and Christmas if 
required. 
 
You must make us aware of 
your plans at least 4 weeks in 
advance. 
 
Your worker will also assist with 
return travel costs if required 

Contribution to University 
accommodation costs 

Assessed dependent on 
individual need and university 
accommodation offer.   

This is paid termly.  
Confirmation of course and 
accommodation costs are 
required. 

University graduation 
equipment 

Dependent on rates We will pay for your Cap, Gown 
and graduation photograph 

Support in accessing all 
relevant funding streams 
including application for 
student loan 

Dependent on university We will ensure that you 
understand all of the ways that 
you can be financially support 
when you are in higher 
education. 

 

Page 27



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

Your health and safety 
Your health and well-being is very important to us. There are lots of services 

and support you can access, and we will do our very best to keep you safe.  

 
We will support and encourage you to be healthy by:  

 Encouraging you to speak up if you are struggling with anything so we can get you 
the  
support that you need. Don’t bottle it up!  

 

 Providing a Health Summary or Passport as you reach 18 years old. This is a summary 
of all your  
health information.  

 

 Helping you to register at a doctor’s surgery and at other health services when you 
move 
home.  

 

 Helping you to manage your emotional well-being –supporting you to get services as 
an adult.  

 

 Helping you to attend hospital or doctors’ appointments.  
 

 Providing help and support if you are a parent.  
 

 Providing you with a gym membership to support your physical and emotional 
wellbeing. 

 

 Access to a yearly subscription to CALM app to support mindfulness and wellbeing. 
 

 Making sure you have an adult you can trust with you, should you get into trouble 
with  
the police if you are under 18.  

 

 Ensure you are invited to all Pathway events and activities.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 
Care leavers who are parents 

 
Being a parent for the first time can be challenging. We want to make sure 
that you get the support you need when you are pregnant and during your 

first year of being a parent.  

 
We can support you in the following ways:  

 Provide you with a gift bag. The gift bag is available to both prospective parents. 
 

 Ensure that you have essential items for you and baby by accessing correct benefits, 
grants and  charities  

 

 Together, we will make sure that you have someone to accompany to pre and  
post-natal health appointments e.g. a friend, family member, Pathway Worker, 
foster carer, if you would like this.  

 

 Provide you with the opportunity to have a Friends and Family for Life Meeting 
during pregnancy to identify support within friends and family network.  

 

 This meeting would ensure all prospective parents have a birth plan which includes a 
6 week after care plan where it is clear who is there to support you with your new 
baby.  

 

 Provide access to support to assist with claiming relevant benefits and registering 
the  
birth of your baby. 

 

 With your consent your Pathway Worker will liaise with all of the professionals 
supporting you and your baby 
 

 Support you attending important meetings 
 

 Support from the Local Area Co-ordinators and family hubs.  
 

 Support in accessing local groups and support if you would like to go 

 Access to DadPad - The Essential Guide for New Dads support Guide for New Dads is a 
guide for new dads (app available), developed with the NHS. The DadPad app available 
for dads within North Yorkshire and York. Created to provide dads with support and 
knowledge to help them with their new-borns.  

 
 

Page 29

https://thedadpad.co.uk/
https://thedadpad.co.uk/


 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 
Refugees 

 
We recognise that York is not your country of origin, and you will have unique needs.   
 
There may be uncertainty around your immigration status, particularly if you have claimed 
asylum, have leave to remain or are awaiting a decision on an immigration application. It is 
very hard for anyone to predict in which way claims or applications will be resolved.  
 
We understand that this can be very hard and worrying.  It is our job to support you in 
managing this and ensuring that your applications are being processed and that you have 
the correct legal support in place. 
 
If you are in touch with any family members, either in the UK or abroad, support will be 
provided to maintain contact once sensible checks have been made (and there hasn’t been 
any indication of risk. This support may include, providing international phone cards and 
facilitating visits. 
 

https://www.speakupyork.co.uk/guide-young-refugees  
 
 

 We will support you in gaining your leave to remain. 
 

 Whilst you do not have recourse to public funds, we will provide you with a weekly 
allowance. 
 

 Whilst you do not have leave to remain, we will ensure that you have somewhere to 
live. 
 

 Provide translators for important meetings. 
 

 Encourage and support you in accessing education and training. 
 

 We will support you in connecting with family and important people. 
 

 Support your cultural identity. 
 

 
 

Page 30



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 
Care leavers who are over 21 

 

We continue to offer support to Care Leavers aged over 21 years until you turn 
25 in line with your needs and wishes and feelings. If at any point you no 

longer require a service from us,  this is ok! You can ask multiple times to have 
a service reinstated up until the age of 25. 

 
The support we will provide to you if you do not have a Pathway Worker or Pathway 
Plan includes:  

 Support and advice from our duty service (Monday – Friday 1pm- 5pm) 
 

 Targeted housing advice and support from our Accommodation Officer 
 

 Council Tax exemption in York for CYC tenancies (see finance section) 
 

 Access to your setting up home grant if you haven’t accessed it 
 

 Support in education, training and employment via our Education, Training and 
Employment advisor 

 

 Invitation to Pathway events, activities and partner initiatives 
 

 You will be sent our seaonal Newsletter to provide you with updates and information 
across the year  

 

 Access to the Pathway Padlet  
 

 

In addition to the above, if you request leaving care support at any point after the age of 

21 and up to the age of 25, we will assess your needs and depending on your identified 

needs: 

 

 Develop a pathway plan setting out the support to be provide allocate a named 

pathway worker. (Although we will try, we cannot guarantee this will be your 

previous worker) 

 

 The amount of support and the frequency of contact that you receive from your 
pathway worker will depend on your individual circumstances and wishes. 

 

Page 31



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 
 
When you need us, we will be here – you STILL Matter! 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Care leavers who are over 25 
 
As Corporate Parents we are still here when young people need us beyond the age of 25.  
We want you to know that ‘You Still Matter’. This is about having someone to turn to when 
advice or support is needed, alongside having someone to share positive news and 
celebrations with.   
 
Our offer post 25 will include: 

  Lifelong access to English and Maths through adult learning 
 

  Introduction to RAISE York Family Hubs for access to services such as debt advice or 
parenting support.  

 

 You can still come to us for information, advice and guidance through our duty 
service 

 

  There will be no more pathway plans (but we can help you plan your life). 
 

  We won’t chase you but we will be here if you need us 
 

 We would love to hear how you are getting on so please do call or write in with your 
news  
or just for a catch-up. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Care leavers in custody 
 

We will be there for any of  our young people in custody. This will include 
making arrangements to collect you when you are released and make 

arrangements so that you have somewhere to go. We will stay in touch by 
visiting or writing to you depending on what you want.  

 
We will also:  

 Provide you with a payment of £20 per month until you are 21 years old, unless 
agreed             otherwise.  

 

 Ensure your Pathway Worker will make a case for any additional funding for hardship 
support you may need.  

 

 If you are in custody when you are under 21 we will save your Birthday and 
Christmas gifts for when you are released. 

 

 Be actively involved in any resettlement planning for you.  
 

 Assist you with keeping in touch with friends and family if you want this.  
 

 With your consent working with the professionals around you to understand your 
plans. 
 

 
 
 

Page 33



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
How to get your voice heard 

 
I Still Matter 

Having a voice and knowing your rights are important when you are a Care 
Leaver, and this document will hopefully help you to understand what support 

and advice is available to you.  

 

Advocacy  

You have a right to access the support of an independent advocate from Speak 
Up.  

An advocate can help you with anything that is important to you, provide you 
with information, help you to understand what’s happening and why and make 
sure that you have the support you are entitled to. 

An advocate can: 

 help you to express and communicate your views, wishes and feelings 

 help you understand your rights, entitlements, and options 

 help you understand information and decisions 

 support you if you feel like workers or services are not listening to you 

Page 34



 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

 help you to be more involved when decisions are being made 

 help you to say if you're unhappy with the support you're receiving or if 

you would like to make a complaint 

 go to meetings with you or on your behalf 

 represent your views, wishes and feelings and champion your rights and 

entitlements 

 help to better understand what professionals are saying 

Led by YOU  

An Advocate is only interested in you and what you want. They work 

on your behalf and based on what you tell them to do. They work 

independently from your local authority and children’s services. The service is 

completely free. 

Advocacy is confidential, and your Advocate won't talk to anyone without 

asking your permission (unless you are putting yourself or someone else in 

danger). 

If you would like the support of an Advocate, please contact us on the details 
below. 

Call/Text: 07769 725174 

Email: speakup@york.gov.uk 

https://www.speakupyork.co.uk/advocacy-young-people  

 

 

Children in Care council and Care Leavers Forum delivered by Speak Up  

York's Children in Care Council and Care Leavers' Forum exists to make sure that 
all children and young people who are cared for (or were previously cared for) by 
City of York Council have the chance to share their views, with the aim of helping 

Page 35

mailto:speakup@york.gov.uk
https://www.speakupyork.co.uk/advocacy-young-people


 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

shape and influence the services and policies that affect them and other young 
people with care experience. 

This is important because you know best what you want from the services that 
support you! 

Getting involved 

There are lots of ways for you to have your say, you don’t have to attend our 
monthly meetings, though we always welcome new members. 

Monthly meetings – I Still Matter (ISM) is our monthly meeting the groups aim 
is to offer practical solutions to a variety of issues that affect all care leavers. 
You will be supported I Still Matter will support you to express your views to 
help make the transition from care to independence a better experience for 
you and others. 

Individual Consultation If you don't want to attend the groups you can still 
have your say by meeting or talking to one of our Corporate Parenting and Co-
Production Advisors.  

Corporate Parenting and Co-production Advisors aim to ensure all young 
people’s views are accounted for, so that every young person feels valued and 
cared for. They understand that speaking to professionals can sometimes be 
overwhelming for young people, so they seek to be the connection between 
young people and the Corporate Parenting Board. 

corporateparentingadvisors@york.gov.uk 

Online  

We have a closed facebook group where you can get involved and share your 
views on the issues we are consulting on. www.facebook.com/groups/smtim 

There are also opportunities to get involved in projects, delivering training or 
being a member of our experienced interview panels. You can get involved 
with as much or as little as you like. 

What are the benefits of getting involved?  

You will have the opportunity to develop lots of skills and gain confidence in 
areas which will enhance your CV and we can also provide you with a 
reference.  

Page 36

mailto:corporateparentingadvisors@york.gov.uk
http://www.facebook.com/groups/smtim


 

Corporate Director Customer and Corporate Services: Ian Floyd 

 

You may also be financially rewarded for your contribution using our reward 
and recognition scheme. 

 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interest
	2 Minutes
	4 Local Offer for Care Leavers
	Annex A - Draft Enhanced Local Offer


